IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT CONSALVO,)		
Appellant,)		
vs.	ý	CASE NO.	82,780
STATE OF FLORIDA,)		
Appellee.)))		

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street/6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-7600

JEFFREY L. ANDERSON Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 374407

Counsel for Appellant

ORIGINAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant and appellee was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Broward County, Florida.

The symbol "R" will be used to denote Record on Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 31, 1991, ROBERT CONSALVO, was charged by indictment with premeditated murder and armed burglary R3343-3343A. Jury selection began on January 19, 1993 R299. At the close of the state's case, and at the close of all the evidence, Appellant moved for judgments of acquittal R2469-70,2471. Appellant's motions were denied R2470,2471. Appellant was found guilty of murder in the first degree as charged in the indictment R3646,3777, and of armed burglary R3647, 3777.

A penalty phase commenced on March 19, 1993 R2744. The jury's recommendation was 11 to 1 for the death penalty R3708. On November 17, 1993 the trial court sentenced Appellant to death for the murder conviction R3771. The trial court departed from the guidelines and sentenced Appellant to a consecutive sentence of life in prison for the armed burglary R3774-76,3770. The trial court filed its sentencing order R3751-68; Appendix. A timely notice of appeal was filed R3782-83. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

GUILT PHASE

Nancy Murray testified that on October 3, 1991, she lived at South Carambola Circle in Coconut Creek R1150. At noon Murray noticed a man open a screened door and raise up the shutter of a residence R1151. The man entered the residence and closed the door R1151. The man had black hair and a black mustache, wore shorts and was holding a towel R1153. Murray called the police R1153. Murray pointed out the person to police R1153. An officer went inside after the man R1154.

Myrna Walker lived in a condominium at 3293 Carambola Circle on October 3, 1991 R1236. Walker saw Appellant at around noontime R1238. Appellant had a towel with him R1242. Appellant and Walker talked as Walker got in her car R1242. Walker returned three hours later and saw a lot of police cars R1244-45. Inside her residence, Walker observed a screwdriver on the floor and her jewelry scattered around R1247. Walker usually kept the jewelry in a dresser drawer R1247. Walker did not give Appellant permission to be in her residence that day R1248. During the evening hours of that same day, Walker permitted police officers to use her telephone R1253. Walker overheard the police say that there had been a stabbing R1253-54. At a later date the police were out scuba diving for a knife R1254.

Officer Greg Williams of the Coconut Creek Police Department testified that he responded to 3293 Carambola Circle at 12:45 p.m. on October 3, 1991 R1161. Williams noticed the screen and rear door had been cut R1162. The shutters were down R1162. Williams heard a noise inside and a shutter went up R1162. Appellant attempted to exit the Walker residence R1163,1166. Appellant had a bunch of items wrapped in a brown towel R1163. Williams yelled for Appellant to halt R1163.

Appellant went inside the residence and Williams followed R1163-64. Williams ordered Appellant to halt and to lay on the ground R1165. Appellant complied R1165. Appellant was handcuffed and searched R1172. A checkbook with the names Sidney and Myrna Walker was removed from his groin area R1173,1177,1183. A checkbook with the name Lorraine B. Pezza and a pocketknife was also found on Appellant R1172-73,1177. Inside the bedroom was a brown towel with some jewelry items and some electronic items R1168. Appellant stated that he had permission to be in the residence R1166. There was a cut in the screen door right where the knob to the door is located R1166. The lock to the sliding glass doors had been pried open R1168. The detective bureau connected prymarks to the screwdriver R1181.

Officer Robert Markland of the Coconut Creek Police Department testified that he helped arrest Appellant on October 3, 1991 R1190, 1192. Markland went into the residence R1191. Appellant was at gunpoint and on the floor R1191. Markland later checked the residence of Lorraine Pezza R1199. There were fresh prymarks between the deadbolt and the doorknob R1199. The prymarks were fresh as they were made that same day R1200.

Sergeant John DiCintio testified that he helped search Appellant after he was taken into custody R1219. Myrna Walker's checkbook was found in Appellant's rear pocket and Lorraine Pezza's checkbook was found in Appellant's groin area R1219-20. DiCintio went to the Pezza residence and found prymarks at the door R1221.

Detective Shackoor was directed to a trash bin surrounded by a three-sided concrete wall that was near the residence R1207. Shackoor found a cloth bag on top of the trash R1209,1213. There were bikes behind the trash container R1211.

Captain Robert Roenbeck of the Coconut Creek Police Department was in charge of the Walker burglary R1261. Roenbeck testified that he inventoried the cloth bag that Detective Shackoor had retrieved and found an assortment of clothing, scotch tape, a playing card, and some Velveeta cheese R1263-64. Roenbeck thought the bag might be relevant R1270. There had been 28 burglaries in that area in the prior six weeks R1270-71. Victor DeAngelo was arrested for the burglaries R1271.

Eva Bell testified that she is a social worker for the Broward County Mental Health Division R1610. On October 3, 1991, at 6:10 p.m., Bell was called to Lorraine Pezza's residence because her family was unable to contact her R1611. Bell knocked on Pezza's door, but there was no answer R1611. Pezza's next door neighbor, Jean Corroppoli, introduced herself R1612. The women conversed R1612. called the police R1614. Officer Walter Westberry arrived around 7:00 p.m. R1614. Westberry knocked at Pezza's apartment, but there was no answer R1615. Bell and Corroppoli went to Corroppoli's apartment R1616. Corroppoli received a phone call and seemed nervous and upset R1617. Apparently her son said he was in jail R1617. Corroppoli said that he had said he had been involved in a murder R1617. remembered that in previous statements she had said that Corroppoli had said her son had said he had been involved in a murder "today" R1642-Bell told the officer what Corroppoli had told her R1619. officer kicked in the door and went inside R1619.

Officer Walter Westberry testified that he responded to 3305 Carambola Circle to meet with Eva Bell R1353. Westberry knocked on the door to 3305, but there was no answer R1354. Westberry kicked in the door R1357. Westberry smelled a pungent odor and turned on the lights

in the kitchen and livingroom R1358. Westberry found a body in the master bedroom R1358.

Sergeant Larry Rogers of the Broward County Sheriff's Office testified that he responded to the scene R1371. Some playing cards were inside the master bedroom and inside the vanity in the bathroom R1474. The cards were loose R1475. Cigarette butts were in the toilet bowl R1375. Four rolls of Scotch tape were in the front bedroom R1479. A pillow was in the spare bathroom sink R1503. There was no blood around the sink R1503. A can of peanut butter, a knife, an apple, and a dried piece of fruit were in the master bedroom R1540. A TV guide dated September 27 was opened to page 53 which had times running from 7:00 p.m. to 10:00 p.m. R1537. The TV remote was on Pezza's bed R1539. The body was lying face down on the bed R1376. Rogers testified that he didn't know at what point the body was moved R1574. When the body was turned over, stab wounds could be seen R1564. The bedsheets contained blood R1493. The bedsheets and everything were removed prior to 10:04 p.m. R1579. Rogers testified that it was possible that the back of the body was seen before 9:50 p.m. R1579. On one of the sheets between the top sheet and Pezza's body was a possible footwear impression in blood R1493. Directly beneath the bed on the floor was part of a knife blade R1487. The portion was the middle section of a knife blade R1555. The blade was never taken to the Medical Examiner's office R1555. A minute amount of blood was found around the knob and on the interior of the front door R1500. The blood was not examined or photographed R1549. Two cuts were made in the patio screen along the frame R1504. One cut was approximately 30 by 45 inches and was large enough to crawl through R1505. There was some type of indentation where the two windows meet R1498. The front door frame was

splintered R1498. The door frame was not reconstructed to determine its condition before it was kicked in R1548. There were 3 possible points of entry R1581. It could not be determined which one was used R1581. Trace evidence -- hairs, fibers, etc. -- were taken R1562. There was some talk that the trace evidence was not examined by a lab R1563. Prints were not lifted from the front window R1582.

A set of keys was found underneath the dumpster on top of the pavement R1462. The keys did not open Pezza's apartment R1519. The canvas tote bag found in the dumpster contained scotch tape, Velveeta cheese, shorts, shirts, and a playing card of the same design as the cards found in Pezza's residence R1469,1472.

Detective Chuck Edel was stipulated to be an expert in the field of blood stain interpretation R1866. Edel went to the scene on October 4, 1991 R1869. Edel doesn't know what position Pezza was in when she was stabbed R1887. Edel opined that Pezza was in a prone position when she bled R1886. Edel opined that Pezza was laying on her bed when she received at least one of the stab wounds R1871. This opinion was due to the blood draining down the side of her body R1872. Pezza's body would have been in a very low position R1872. Edel found no prints on either Pezza's or Consalvo's patio R1879. The cut on Pezza's screen was large enough for Edel to go through R1880. The cut in the Pezza screen was not in the closest area to the Consalvo apartment R1892. The cut was in the middle R1892. There were no prints or scuff marks indicating that anyone shimmied from one patio to the other R1892-93.

Dr. Ronald Wright, the medical examiner for Broward County, was declared an expert in the field of forensic pathology R2061. Wright performed the autopsy on Lorraine Pezza. Wright testified that the cause of death was stab wounds R2085. The range of the time of death

was 3 to 7 days. At the time Wright saw the body on October 4th, it looked as if the body had decomposed for 3½ days R2121. Based on the decomposition, death would have occurred on the evening of September 30th R2121. Wright testified that he would be surprised if death had occurred a week earlier because there would be maggots R2122. The kind of changes seen in Pezza would be highly unlikely to occur before 3 days after death R2067.

Wright testified that there was a stab wound to the right chest which was 3 inches deep R2068-70. The nature of the wound suggests a knife with one dull side and one sharp side R2071. There was a wound to the left chest which went into the heart R2073-74. In Wright's opinion Pezza was lying down when she received this wound R2075. This was the only serious or fatal wound R2083. Pezza would have lived only 20 seconds after the infliction of this wound R2083. There was one stab wound to the back and 5 other superficial wounds R2077-78. stab wounds to the back was 4 inches deep and went between the ribs Police brought Appellant's pocket knife for Dr. Wright to examine and Wright told them they had to be kidding R2119. Dr. Wright eliminated Appellant's knife as a possible cause of Pezza's wounds Wright testified that the broken blade found at the scene could have been part of the weapon involved in the stabbing R2081. Wright testified that restaurant supply knives are made of a higher carbon steel than other cheaper knives and they tend to bend as opposed to break R2102-03. The stab wounds to Pezza could have been made with any knife with a blade longer than 4 inches R2105. Wright could not tell if the knife would be single or double edged R2104.

Dr. Wright testified that he was called on the case on October 3, 1991, at 10:07 p.m. and was told that Pezza had a stab wound to the

chest R2093. Detective O'Neil had called and apparently knew about the stabbing before 10:00 p.m. R2095. From the description, it sounded like a suicide to Dr. Wright thus he didn't go to the scene R2098. There was a past history showing a possible suicide R2091. If he had thought it was a homicide he would have gone to the scene R2098. However, from doing the autopsy, there was no doubt in Dr. Wright's mind that this was not a suicide R2092. In reviewing approximately 2,000 cases of suicide, Wright never saw a case where the deceased had a stab wound to the back R2082.

Jean Corroppoli testified that Appellant was her son R1672. Corroppoli lived next door to Lorraine Pezza R1678. On the date Appellant was arrested, October 3rd, in the early morning hours Corroppoli had to let Appellant in because he had lost his keys R1694-95. Appellant had a small bag with kittens on it R1696. The bag did not match the bag that the police found in the trash dumpster R1696. Appellant grabbed the bag and went into his room R1697. Corroppoli leaned over her bannister and noticed that Pezza's light was on R1781. This was the first time she had noticed the light R1781. As a result, Corroppoli called Pezza's mother that morning R1698,1700. Corroppoli also noticed that newspapers were piled up and noticed a cut on the screen that was always being repaired or broken R1701. When she returned from work, Corroppoli noticed that the papers were gone and the screen was repaired R1703.

Corroppoli testified that later that same day she talked with Eva Bell R1707. Corroppoli and Bell were talking when Corroppoli received a call from Appellant R1709. Appellant asked to be bailed out and said that if she didn't bail him out they would implicate him in a murder R1710. Corroppoli told Appellant that the police were next door R1713.

Appellant said, "Oh, shit" R1713. Corroppoli found a towel in her son's room R1717-18. Corroppoli had never seen the towel prior to that day R1719. There was a dried spot of blood on the towel R1719.

Corroppoli testified that when she was moving she noticed that a knife was missing R1721. The knife was a butcher knife with a straight edge R1721. The knife was a big, heavy knife R1765,1760. She bought it at a restaurant supply place R1722. She may have lost the knife at a picnic R1723. She consistently told Detective Gill that she may have misplaced the knife R1758. She told him she may have lost it at a picnic R1758-59. Corroppoli washed Appellant's shoes after Pezza was missing R1742. There was no blood on the shoes R1742.

Detective Thomas Gill of the Broward County Sheriff's Office responded to the Pezza residence at 8:50 p.m. R1811. Gill testified that he went inside the apartment and looked at the scene R1812. At 10:00 p.m., Gill went to the North Broward Detention Center to speak with Appellant R1815-16. Gill arrived at 10:10 p.m. R1816. advised Appellant of his constitutional rights R1816. Appellant he wanted to speak with him regarding Pezza's checkbook that was found on his person R1818. The account had been closed out since March of 1991 R1842. Appellant responded by stating that "you are not going to pin that stabbing on me" R1819. Gill testified that he had not known that it was a stabbing R1819. Gill returned to the Pezza residence and looked at the body and saw what appeared to be puncture wounds in the back R1820. There were 2 cigarette filters at the scene R1821. Gill interviewed Jean Corroppoli R1822. Gill testified that Corroppoli told him about a towel sometime after 11:30 p.m. R1823. Corroppoli's house was searched R1828. Gill observed a pinkish colored towel on a top shelf inside a dresser R1830,1832. Shoes were found at

the foot of a bed and were taken because of the apparent shoe print in blood at the crime scene R1831.

Gill testified that Pezza's car was found behind a pawn shop, 2300 yards from the Seaton Villa Motel R1847-49. Pezza owned a 1987 maroon Honda Accord R1827. On October 10th the keys were found in a nearby back yard R1853. The keys did not fit in Pezza's door R1854.

Gill testified that he talked with Corroppoli on October 11th about a knife R1846. Gill testified that Corroppoli never told him she might have misplaced the knife R1949-50. However, Gill admitted that at the deposition Corroppoli did state that she may have misplaced the knife R1951. The pond behind Pezza's apartment was searched for a knife, but none was found R1901. Gill admitted there were inaccuracies in his report R1917-18. There were a number of possible points of entry including the front door, front windows, back window and balcony R1956-57. The front door could also have been a point of exit R1957. No analysis was ever done on the trace evidence gathered by the crime scene unit R1961-62. The shoes that were taken couldn't be matched with anything in Pezza's apartment R1969. Gill doesn't know whether DNA testing was done on the cigarette butts taken from Pezza's apartment R1987. Corroppoli's statement used the term "implicated" and not "involved" in a murder R2028. The term "today" meant October 3rd R2028-29.

Fred Boyd testified that he compares latent footwear for the Broward County Sheriff's Office R2133-34. Boyd compared the design of Appellant's shoe with the impressions on Pezza's bedsheet R2135. The design of the shoes was not similar with the impression on the sheet R2136.

Thomas Messick, an expert in the field of latent print examination, testified that he compared prints given to him with those of Appellant, Lorraine Pezza and Scott Merriman R2328-29. Messick received 74 prints R2329. There were 47 prints of value R2334. Seven of the prints belonged to Pezza R2334. Eighteen belonged to Merriman R2335. Twenty-two could not be identified R2335. Messick could not positively say that 20 of these did not belong to Pezza R2336. Two of them definitely did not belong to Pezza R2336. One was from a rearview mirror of Pezza's car and the other was taken from a package of scotch tape R2337. The other unidentified prints were found on the bedroom door, the front door, the glass nightstand, the chair in the bedroom, a playing card, the bedroom glass sliding door, and the Velvetta cheese container R2340-43,2349.

Kevin Noppinger testified that he is a DNA analyst for the Broward County Sheriff's Office R2258. Noppinger received a towel found in Appellant's bedroom for examination R2262. The DNA of the blood on the towel matched that of Lorraine Pezza R2266. The frequency match was 1 in 390,000 R2267. Noppinger examined Appellant's shoes for blood, but he could not find any blood R2279. Noppinger did not examine other bloody items in his possession R2279. Noppinger did not analyze the blood on the partial knife blade found at the crime scene R2291. Noppinger did not analyze the blood found on Pezza's door R2292. Noppinger did not see the trace evidence in this case R2286. Noppinger's analysis did not place Appellant at the crime scene R2285.

Sergeant James Kammerer of the Broward County Sheriff's Office testified that he arrived at the Pezza residence at approximately 10:05 p.m. R2310. Kammerer used a particle laser and collected numerous hairs from different parts of Pezza's body R2310. A fiber was

collected from Pezza's left hand R2310. A number of prints were discovered R2311-14. Cigarette butts from an ashtray were taken into evidence R2316. Trace evidence can eliminate people and can be used to trace people to the crime R2322. DNA analysis can be done on the roots of hair R2333. Hair analysis was requested int his case, but Kammerer did not know the results R2324. It is the responsibility of the lead detective to make sure the work was properly collected R2325.

James Andreas testified that he was the director of Presto Network for Publix and he managed and operated the ATM records R1403. Records showed that on September 27, 1991, at 4:07 p.m to 4:09 p.m. three attempts were made to withdraw money from an ATM at Margate Publix were denied R1423-24. At 4:10 p.m. a transaction of \$200.00 was made R1424. On September 29, 1991, a number of other transactions were attempted R1428-31. Some of the records did not accurately reflect the attempted transactions R1432-34.

Casey Robinson testified that he was the assistant branch manager of the California Federal Bank R1448. A bank statement of September 19, 1991, showed Lorraine Pezza's account had a balance of \$5,101.76 R1454-55. The balance on October 17, 1991, was \$3,035.25 R1455. The following withdrawals were from Pezza's ATM account: 9/27/91 - \$200; 9/28/91 - \$200; 9/28/91 - \$60; 9/29/91 - \$200; 9/29/91 - \$80; 9/29/91 - \$20; 9/30/91 - \$200; 9/30/91 - \$1000 R1456.

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