## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

F	1	L	E	D
H,	1	L	E	L

SID J. WHITE OCT 8 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

ROBERT CONSALVO,	)	ByChief Deputy Clerk
Appellant,	)	, •
vs.	)	Case No. 82,780
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	
	, )	
Appellee.	, , 	

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

## AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO. 0857238
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409
(407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

#

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Issue I - Appellant's challenges to the instruction that proof of the unexplained possession of recently stolen property by means of a burglary may justify a conviction for burglary were not raised in the trial court, and thus were not preserved for review. Regardless, the validity of this instruction has been upheld previously.

Issue II - The State's comments in its guilt-phase closing argument relating to the similarities between the Walker burglary and the Pezza burglary/murder were fair comments on the evidence. Even if they were erroneous, however, they were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue III - The trial court conducted an adequate inquiry and properly determined that the State did not commit a discovery violation when it informed defense counsel the day after opening statements that its fingerprint expert had made additional fingerprint comparisons on previously unidentified prints found in the victim's apartment, some of which matched the victim's deceased, live-in boyfriend. Even were it a violation, the trial court properly determined that it was neither willful nor substantial, and that Appellant was not prejudiced in his defense since he had deposed the expert immediately after the additional comparisons were made.

Issue IV - Appellant failed to preserve this issue for review. Even if it were preserved, the trial court conducted an adequate inquiry and properly determined that the State did not commit a discovery violation when it failed to disclose that it requested analysis of some cigarette butts found in the victim's toilet but that an analysis could not be done. Even were it a violation, the trial court properly determined that it was neither willful nor substantial, and that Appellant was not prejudiced in his defense.

Issue V - Based on Appellant's reciprocal discovery and his questions to Eva Bell and Dr. Wright, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the State to present evidence and argument to rebut Appellant's potential suicide defense. Even if it were error, however, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue VI - Appellant failed to preserve this issue for review. Even had it been preserved, hearsay testimony relating to a prior incident between Appellant and the victim regarding an alleged theft of money and keys was properly admitted under the state of mind exception to the hearsay rule, as it proved that the victim would not have consented to Appellant's presence in her apartment, which was an element of the armed burglary charge. Were it improperly admitted, however, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue VII - Appellant failed to preserve this issue for review. Even were it preserved, Officer Williams' testimony relating to Appellant's statement upon his arrest for the Walker burglary that he had permission to be there was properly admitted to show a consciousness of guilt and to rebut a potential defense of consent. Were it admitted in error, however, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue VIII - Appellant failed to preserve this issue for appeal and makes different arguments on appeal than he made pretrial below. Regardless, the trial court properly admitted Ms. Bell's testimony since Appellant's hearsay statement to his mother was an "admission," and Ms. Corroppoli's statement to Ms. Bell was either a "spontaneous statement" or an "excited utterance." Even if improperly admitted, however, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue IX - Appellant failed to preserve this issue for appeal. Regardless, the trial court properly admitted evidence of the Walker burglary because it was inextricably intertwined with the

Pezza burglary/murder. Even if it was admitted in error, however, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue X - Appellant failed to preserve this issue for review. Regardless, instruction and argument on felony murder did not constitute an improper amendment to the indictment which alleged only premeditated first-degree murder.

Issue XI - This Court has repeatedly held that the trial court may instruct the jury on, and the State may argue, felony murder when the indictment only alleges premeditated murder.

Issue XII - The record supports the trial court's finding of the "avoid arrest" aggravating factor.

Issue XIII - The trial court's reliance on information that was not presented in open court in determining the appropriate sentence did not injuriously affect Appellant's right to a fair trial. All of the information obtained from the nonrecord sources was admitted at trial, and it did not, even collectively, constitute a substantial portion of the evidence upon which the trial court found the existence of the aggravating factors.

Issue XIV - The trial court considered all of Appellant's mitigating evidence. To the extent that Appellant did not articulate certain circumstances to the trial court, Appellant cannot fault the trial court for failing to mention it. The record supports the trial court's rejection of some of Appellant's nonstatutory mitigating evidence. The trial court did not apply the wrong standard in considering Appellant's evidence of abuse as a child.

Issue XV - When compared to other cases under similar facts, Appellant's sentence of death is proportionately warranted.

Issue XVI - The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting victim-impact evidence. Even if it did, however, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue XVII - Florida's victim-impact statute is constitutional.

Issue XVIII - The "felony murder" aggravating factor is constitutional.

Issue XIX - The trial court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting Appellant's special requested instructions which detailed his nonstatutory mitigating circumstances.

Issue XX - Death by electrocution is not cruel and unusual punishment.

## **ARGUMENT**

### ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY THAT PROOF OF UNEXPLAINED POSSESSION OF RECENTLY STOLEN PROPERTY BY MEANS OF A BURGLARY MAY JUSTIFY A CONVICTION FOR BURGLARY (Restated).

The following instruction was read to the jury over Appellant's objection during the guilt phase of his trial:

Proof of unexplained possession by an accused of property recently stolen by means of a burglary may justify **a** conviction of burglary with intent to steal that property if the circumstances of the burglary and of the possession of the stolen property, when considered in the light of all of the evidence in the case, convince you beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant committed the burglary.

(T 2699-2700). During the charge conference, defense counsel claimed that the facts did not support the instruction because there was no proof that the property was stolen at the time of the burglary, as opposed to either at the time of the previous theft of the victim's keys and money, or sometime after the victim was killed. (T 2480-81). In this appeal, however, he contends that the instruction is internally inconsistent because it "requires the jury to find that the property was stolen by means of burglary before using the presumption. If the jury finds that the property was stolen by burglary, the burglary issue would be resolved." **Brief of Appellant** at 23-24. In essence, Appellant is attacking the validity of the instruction itself rather than the applicability of the instruction to the facts. Because he did not make this argument in the trial court, he may not raise it for the first time on appeal. Tillman v. State, 471 So.2d 32, 35 (Fla. 1985); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982).

Even if it were preserved, it has no merit. **As** Appellant's cited cases establish, "[t]he presumption applies . . . where the property is indisputably stolen and the question is who stole it."

Jones v. State, 495 So.2d 856, 857 (Fla. 4th **DCA 1986**) (cited in **Brief of Appellant** at 24).

Appellant, however, disputes that any of Ms. Pezza's property was stolen. Specifically, he claims that Ms. Pezza's canvas bag could have been removed from the trash dumpster where it was recovered by the police. **Brief of Appellant** at **24-25.** Alternatively, he claims that the evidence never established that he was actually in possession of Ms. Pezza's canvas bag and, in fact, his mother testified that he was in possession of a different canvas bag. <u>Id.</u> at 25.' In addition, Appellant claims that Ms. Pezza's checkbook "was from **an** account that was closed long before the burglary occurred R1842. Thus, the checkbook was of no value and <u>could have been discarded long</u> ago." **Brief of Appellant** at 25 (emphasis added).<sup>2</sup>

Curiously, Appellant does not mention the fact that he was videotaped using Ms. Pezza's ATM card, and was seen driving her car several days before her body was found. The State's evidence established beyond a reasonable doubt that these items were not "found," but were taken without Ms. Pezza's consent during the burglary of her home. Thus, taken as a whole, the evidence supports the conclusion that Appellant was in possession of items <u>stolen</u> from Ms. Pezza.

Appellant asserts that even assuming the property was stolen his possession of the property "was never unexplained. Appellant was never asked to explain his possession of the property."

<sup>&#</sup>x27;His own attorney, however, conceded to the **jury** that Appellant's mother was mistaken. (T 2507). While his attorney's argument is not evidence, Appellant can hardly ignore his attorney's concession.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Appellant's possession of the checkbook in his back pocket when he was caught burglarizing Mrs. Walker's home belies any claim that <u>he</u> knew it was "of no value." Moreover, Appellant was caught with Mrs. Walker's checkbook down his pants. This particular checking account had also been closed out. (T 1172-73, 1184, 1247).

Brief of Appellant at 25. Formally offering Appellant an opportunity to explain, however, is not a prerequisite. "If the Government proves possession and nothing more, this evidence remains unexplained unless the defendant introduces evidence, since ordinarily the Government's evidence will not provide an explanation of his possession consistent with innocence." Barnes v. United States, 412 U.S. 837, 846 n.11 (1973). Regardless, although the State was not required to ask Appellant to explain his possession of Ms. Pezza's property, it in fact did so when Detective Gill went to the jail after Appellant's arrest for the Walker burglary to question Appellant about his possession of Ms. Pezza's checkbook. Thus, he should not be heard to complain that he was never asked, assuming such a requirement exists.

Finally, Appellant alleges that by giving the instruction, the trial court improperly commented on the evidence. To support this contention, Appellant cites to Barfield v. State, 613 So.2d 507, 508 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), wherein the First District held that a similar instruction constituted an improper comment on the evidence and invaded the province of the jury. Brief of Appellant at 25-26. Again, this argument was not raised before the trial court and cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. Tillman: Steinhorst.

Even were it preserved, however, <u>Barfield</u> is easily distinguishable. In that case, the defendant had been charged with dealing in stolen property and grand theft. Over the defendant's objection, the trial court gave the following instruction which was based on section 812.022(3), Florida Statutes (1989):

Proof of the purchase or sale of stolen property at a price substantially below the fair market value unless satisfactorily explained gives rise to an inference that a person buying or selling the property knew or should have known that the property had been stolen.

613 So.2d at 507. Comparing this instruction to the flight instruction condemned in <u>Fenelon v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 594 So.2d 292 (Fla. 1992), the district court noted that, **like** the flight instruction, this instruction was not contained in the standard jury instructions. In addition, the court believed that the phrase "substantially below the fair market value" did not adequately inform the jury of the circumstances under which the presumption should apply. Finally, as in Fenelon, the district court was concerned about the lack of a meaningful standard for determining the type of evidence that warrants the giving of the instruction. 613 So.2d at 508.

The instruction given in Appellant's case, on the other hand, is contained in the standard jury instructions and has been approved by this Court several times. See. e.g., Edwards v. State, 381 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1980), and cases cited therein, It does not contain vague terms, and its application to any given case is easily determined. Thus, it does not suffer the same defects as the instruction in Barfield. Consequently, though not preserved, Appellant's argument is unavailing. As a result, this Court should affirm Appellant's conviction for the first-degree murder of Lorraine Pezza.

## **ISSUE II**

WHETHER THE STATE'S GUILT-PHASE CLOSING ARGUMENT RELATING TO A COLLATERAL OFFENSE DENIED APPELLANT A FAIR TRIAL (Restated).

During the State's guilt-phase closing argument, the prosecutor made the following comments:

Okay, the the [sic] Walker burglary. There's some interesting things that I want you to consider about that in comparison to Miss Pezza's burglary because there's a lot of similarities, not only the fact that you have him committing a burglary, and I'm sure you know the layout. It's downstairs and one over from him and Lorraine, who's, of course, next door. What are [sic] do you have?

(T 2634). At that point, defense counsel objected that the State was arguing the Walker burglary as <u>Williams</u> rule evidence when the trial court had admitted it because the burglary was inextricably intertwined with the facts of the Pezza burglary/murder: "For him to argue the similarities is improper Williams Rule, and he shouldn't be allowed to argue this now to the jury because that wasn't the purpose that it was in." (T 2634-35). The State responded:

These are facts in evidence. I can argue and comment on the facts in evidence as similarities if I want. The fact that they are intertwined doesn't make it that they are not similar as well. They are intertwined, They are similar. It's all been deemed relevant testimony in this case, and I can comment on it. If he wants to add a jury instruction, you know, that's fine, Williams Rule instruction, that's fine.

(T 2635-36). The trial court overruled defense counsel's objection. (T 2638-39).

Appellant renews his claim that the State should not have been allowed to compare the similarities of the two crimes because the Walker burglary was not admitted as similar fact evidence.

Appellant further claims that the State should not have been allowed to argue the facts under that

theory. The fact that it did rendered his trial fundamentally unfair because the Walker burglary was not sufficiently similar to qualify as <u>Williams</u> rule evidence. **Brief of Appellant** at **26.** 

To the extent Appellant argues that the Walker burglary was not admissible as similar fact evidence, or under any other theory, the State will rely on its arguments made in Issue IX, <u>infra</u>. In that issue, the State submits that the Walker burglary was admissible because it was inextricably intertwined with the Pezza burglary/homicide and was more probative than prejudicial. **As** for Appellant's claim in this issue that the trial court abused its discretion in allowing the State to argue the similarities between the Walker burglary and the Pezza burglary/homicide, the State submits that such argument was proper rebuttal to defense counsel's argument, and proper comment on the evidence.

As this Court has repeatedly stated, "[t]he proper exercise of closing argument is to review the evidence and to explicate those inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence."

Bertolotti v. State, 476 So.2d 130, 134 (Fla. 1985). "Logical inferences may be drawn, and counsel is allowed to advance all legitimate arguments." Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982). "Merely arguing a conclusion that can be drawn from the evidence is permissible fair comment."

Mann v. State, 603 So.2d 1141, 1143 (Fla. 1992). The issue in this case was the identity of the perpetrator. By comparing the similarities between the two intertwined offenses, the State was attempting to prove circumstantially that Appellant was the perpetrator. It was arguing facts elicited during the trial and drawing legitimate inferences therefrom. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in overruling Appellant's objection.

Even were the State's comments improper, however, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The permissible evidence

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